
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO 

WESTERN DIVISION 
 

ERNEST D. KAYLOR, 
 
  Plaintiff,      Case No. 
v.         Hon. 
 
ALLEN COUNTY, a Political Subdivision of 
the State of Ohio; Former Allen County Sheriff 
SAMUEL A. CRISH, In His Official and 
Individual Capacity; LIEUTENANT 
TIMOTHY AMSTUTZ, In His Official and 
Individual Capacity; CORPORAL CHAD 
LAUCK, In His Official and Individual 
Capacity; OFFICER MICHAEL KNOTTS, In 
His Official and Individual Capacity; JOHN 
BIERY, D.O., In His Official and Individual 
Capacity; MICHELLE MAGNESS, R.N., In 
Her Official and Individual Capacity; 
 
  Defendants. 
                 / 
EXCOLO LAW, PLLC    1-800-LAW-FIRM, PLLC 
Solomon M. Radner, Esq. Ari Kresch, Esq.  

Attorney for Plaintiff    Co-Counsel for Plaintiff 
26700 Lahser Rd, Suite 401   26700 Lahser Rd, Suite 400 
Southfield, Michigan 48033   Southfield, Michigan 48033 
(866) 939-2656      (800) 529-3476 
sradner@excololaw.com     akresch@1800lawfirm.com  

                 / 
 

 
COMPLAINT 

 
NOW COMES Plaintiff, Ernest D. Kaylor (“Plaintiff”), by and through his 

attorneys, Solomon M. Radner of EXCOLO LAW, PLLC, and Ari Kresch of 1-800-

LAW-FIRM, PLLC, and respectfully alleges the following: 
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INTRODUCTION 

1. This is a civil rights action against Allen County (the “County”) and the 

former Allen County Sheriff, Samuel A. Crish (“Sheriff Crish”), Lieutenant Timothy 

Amstutz (“Lieutenant Amstutz”), Corporal Chad Lauck (“Corporal Lauck”), Officer 

Michael Knotts (“Officer Knotts”), John Biery, D.O. (“Dr. Biery”), and Michelle 

Magness, R.N. (“Nurse Magness”) (collectively the “Individual Defendants”). 

2. Plaintiff commences this action pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

3. Plaintiff commences this action against the Individual Defendants in 

their official and individual capacities as members of the County Sheriff’s office or 

employees of the County jail. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

4. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331. 

5. Venue is appropriate in the Northern District of Ohio pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. § 1391(b) since the Individual Defendants are residents of Allen County, 

Ohio and the acts providing the legal basis for this complaint occurred in Allen 

County, Ohio. 

PARTIES 

6. Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and at all relevant times was 

a resident of Allen County, Ohio. 

7. Defendant Allen County is a political subdivision of the State of Ohio 



- 3 - 
 

and at all times relevant, was acting under the color of state law. 

8. Defendant Samuel A. Crish was, at all relevant times, the Sheriff of 

Allen County, and a duly sworn County law enforcement officer. 

9. Lieutenant Amstutz is, and at all relevant time has been, a duly sworn 

County law enforcement officer. 

10. Corporal Lauck is, and at all relevant time has been, a duly sworn 

County law enforcement officer. 

11. Officer Knotts is, and at all relevant time has been, a duly sworn 

County law enforcement officer. 

12. Dr. Biery is, and at all relevant times has been, a physician employed 

with Allen County. 

13. Nurse Magness is, and at all relevant times has been, a registered nurse 

employed with the County. 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

14. Plaintiff was arrested on May 28, 2015 and placed in the custody of 

the County Sheriff’s office awaiting trial.  County jail intake forms show that 

Plaintiff did not suffer from any medical conditions at that time. 

15. During his incarceration, the Individual Defendants became aware of 

a methicillin-resistant staphylococcus aureus (“MRSA”) outbreak among the jail’s 

inmate population.  MRSA is a form of staph bacteria that is resistant to several 
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antibiotics and commonly causes skin infections. 

16. The Individual Defendants ignored and/or failed to implement 

appropriate containment protocols to diminish the spread of MRSA.  Among other 

things, the Individual Defendants (1) permitted MRSA-infected inmates to shower 

in common areas without effective sanitization, (2) allowed MRSA-infected inmates 

to mingle and interact with non-infected inmates, and (3) failed to properly sanitize 

the bedding and clothing of MRSA-infected inmates. 

17. On August 20, 2015, Plaintiff noticed a small pimple-like sore spot on 

his upper thigh near the groin area that appeared inflamed and was sore to the touch. 

18. At his first opportunity, on August 21, 2015, Plaintiff showed the sore 

to Officer Knotts and requested medical attention.  Officer Knotts and Corporal 

Lauck declined the request for medical attention, informed Plaintiff that Dr. Biery 

was unavailable and further stated that the Plaintiff’s growing abscess was most 

likely an insect bite. 

19. Officer Knotts and Corporal Lauck refused to have Plaintiff tested for 

MRSA. 

20. On August 25, 2015, Dr. Biery prescribed Plaintiff with an antibiotic 

called Keflex which was administered to Plaintiff by Nurse Magness.  Nurse 

Magness also obtained a culture of the abcess for laboratory analysis.   

21. On August 26, 2015, Nurse Magness assured Plaintiff that his 
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condition was improving despite Plaintiff’s complaints of dramatically increased 

pain and swelling around the site of the abcess. 

22. On August 27, 2015, Plaintiff began experiencing sweats, chills, and 

nausea.  The inflammation around the abcess continued to swell and turned the color 

of “deep red/purple.”  Nurse Magness further noted ecchymosis in the area of the 

inflammation and that Plaintiff’s right groin was “warm to the touch.”  Dr. Biery 

then authorized Plaintiff’s transportation to Lima Memorial Hospital (“LMH”) for 

further evaluation and treatment. 

23. LMH emergency room records indicate that Plaintiff presented with 

erythema and a “16 cm abscess on his right groin area.”  Emergency room physicians 

performed a preliminary incision and drainage of the abscess.  One of the emergency 

physicians informed Plaintiff that he had the worst case of MRSA the physician had 

ever seen. 

24. On August 28, 2015, even after the initial incision and drainage 

procedure, medical records reflect that Plaintiff presented with a “20 cm area of 

cellulitis” in the groin area along with “copious purulent fluid upon compression.” 

25. On August 29, 2015, LMH physicians performed another incision and 

drainage of the abscess and packed the resulting wound with gauze.  They also 

provided Plaintiff with a “wound-vac” to assist with drainage at the incision site. 

26. On August 31, 2015, Ohio Common Pleas Judge David A. Cheney 
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ordered Plaintiff’s release from the custody of the County Sheriff’s office and placed 

him under house arrest pending the disposition of the criminal proceedings against 

him. 

27. Plaintiff was discharged from LMH the following day.  Plaintiff 

retained the “wound-vac” for drainage and his physicians directed him to clean the 

incision site regularly, and return to the LMH wound clinic three times per week to 

have the “wound-vac” sponge cleaned and for monitoring of the incision site.   

28. Plaintiff’s wound did not completely heal until mid-October, 2015 and 

he now has a 16-cm scar along the incision site. 

COUNT I -VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. § 1983 
(Eighth Amendment – Cruel and Unusual Punishment) 

 
(Against the Individual Defendants) 

 
29. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs of this 

complaint as though fully set forth herein. 

30. The Individual Defendants ignored and/or failed to implement 

appropriate containment protocols to diminish the spread of MRSA.  Among other 

things, the Individual Defendants (1) permitted MRSA-infected inmates to shower 

in common areas without effective sanitization, (2) allowed MRSA-infected inmates 

to mingle and interact with non-infected inmates, and (3) failed to properly sanitize 

the bedding and clothing of MRSA-infected inmates. 

31. Officer Knotts and Corporal Lauck acted with deliberate indifference 
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towards Plaintiff’s MRSA infection when they declined his requests for medical 

attention. 

32. Officer Knotts and Corporal Lauck acted with deliberate indifference 

to Plaintiff’s MRSA infection when they refused to have him immediately seen by 

medical staff to be tested for MRSA. 

33. Dr. Biery and Nurse Magness acted with deliberate indifference to 

Plaintiff’s MRSA infection because they were aware of a MRSA outbreak among 

the County jail’s inmate population, but declined to immediately send Plaintiff to 

LMH when he exhibited textbook symptoms of MRSA. 

34. As a direct and proximate result of the Individual Defendants’ conduct, 

Plaintiff suffered severe physical, mental, and emotional injuries. 

35. Thus, Plaintiff seeks: (1) compensatory and punitive damages; and (2) 

reasonable attorney fees. 

COUNT II -VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. § 1983 
(Eighth Amendment – Municipal Liability) 

 
(Against the County) 

 
36. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs of this 

complaint as though fully set forth herein. 

37. The County implicitly or explicitly adopted and implemented careless 

and reckless policies, customs, and practices that allowed the unconstitutional 

conduct described above. 
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38. Specifically, the County, Sheriff Crish, and Lieutenant Amstutz failed 

to adopt and/or failed to implement appropriate containment policies and procedures 

to diminish the spread of MRSA and other communicable diseases in the County 

jail. 

39. In addition, the County, Sheriff Crish, and Lieutenant Amstutz failed 

to implement and enforce document collection and retention policies for storing jail 

activity logs and medical incident reports.  The absence of such policies prevents 

any form of meaningful review of past epidemiological incidents for supervision and 

training purposes.  The absence of such policies also fosters an atmosphere where 

County Sheriff’s officers and medical staff exhibit deliberate indifference to the 

serious medical needs of the County jail’s inmate population because they know 

such conduct will ultimately go unrecorded and undetected. 

40. As a direct and proximate result of the County’s failure to implement 

proper polices, customs, and practices, Plaintiff suffered severe physical, mental, 

and emotional injuries. 

41. Therefore, Plaintiff seeks: (1) compensatory and punitive damages; 

and (2) reasonable attorney fees. 

RELIEF REQUESTED 

In view of the foregoing, Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court: 

(A) Award compensatory damages in an amount determined by a jury; 
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(B) Award punitive damages in an amount determined by a jury; 

(C) Award reasonable attorney fees and the costs and disbursements of this 

action; and 

(D) Grant such further relief as this Court deems appropriate. 

 

JURY TRIAL DEMAND 
 

 Plaintiff demands a trial by jury pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 38. 
 

Dated: July 17, 2017 

      Respectfully submitted,  

      EXCOLO LAW, PLLC 
       
     By:   /s/ Solomon M. Radner   

   Solomon M. Radner (MI Bar No. P73653)  
   Attorney for Plaintiff 

      26700 Lahser Rd, Suite 401 
Southfield, Michigan 48033 
(866) 939-2656  
sradner@excololaw.com  
 
 

      1-800-LAW-FIRM, PLLC 

     By:   /s/ Ari Kresch   
   Ari Kresch (MI Bar No. P29593) 
   (Pro hac vice Admission Pending) 

Co-Counsel for Plaintiff  
   26700 Lahser Rd, Suite 401 

Southfield, Michigan 48033 
(800) 529-3476 
akresch@1800lawfirm.com  
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